# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-8-2017

# State v. Merrill Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44822

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### Nature of the Case

Colton Merrill entered a plea agreement with the State whereby he pled guilty to a charge of attempting to elude a police officer and admitted to violating his probation in two prior cases. In exchange, the State promised to concur with the sentencing recommendations in the presentence investigation report; the presentence investigator recommended retained jurisdiction and a rider.

At sentencing, the prosecutor acknowledged the State's obligation to follow the presentence investigator's recommendation, and he ultimately made the recommendation for retained jurisdiction and a rider. However, the prosecutor made additional, negative statements regarding that recommendation, including "I think a straight prison recommendation is just fantastic." (Tr., p.32, Ls.2-10) (Emphasis added).

The district court did not retain jurisdiction and sentenced Mr. Merrill to "straight prison" in all three cases. On appeal, Mr. Merrill challenges the dispositions in his three cases, which have been consolidated for appeal, contending that the prosecutor's negative statements at sentencing constituted a breach of the plea agreement, and he asks for a new sentencing hearing before a different judge.

#### Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

Mr. Merrill has struggled with heroin addiction for years. (PSI, p.191.) He had been progressing in the Wood Drug Court program, as part of his probation in two previous cases, and he had been sober for more than 15 months when, after a bad break up with his girlfriend, he relapsed with a single heroin use. (PSI, p.171.) He became delusional and led police on a high-speed car chase that ended when his vehicle left the road and landed in a canal. (PSI, p.171;

R., pp.305, 538.) The State charged Mr. Merrill with attempting to elude a police officer and driving without privileges, along with a persistent violator enhancement. (R., pp.560, 562.) The State also filed probation violation reports alleging Mr. Merrill had violated probation in his two previous cases. (R., pp.301, 475.)

Pursuant to the terms of a plea agreement, Mr. Merrill pled guilty to the eluding charge and admitted violating his probation. (R., p.573; Tr., p.16, L.5; Tr., p.19, L.21 – p.20, L.1.) In exchange, the State promised to dismiss the misdemeanor charge and to not pursue the enhancement; the State also promised to concur with the recommendations of the presentence investigation ("PSI") writer. (Tr., p.7, Ls.6-11, p.29, Ls.17-18.) The PSI writer recommended retained jurisdiction and a rider. (PSI, p.177.)

At the combined sentencing and disposition hearing, Mr. Merrill asked the court to continue his probation and allow him to participate in a new intensive residential treatment program in the community; in the alternative, if the court were not to grant probation, he asked for retained jurisdiction and a rider, as recommended in the PSI. (Tr., p.28, Ls.17-23.)

The prosecutor then presented the State's sentencing argument. (Tr., p.29, L.16 – p.33, L.4.) The prosecutor acknowledged he was bound by the plea agreement to follow the PSI's recommendation (Tr., p.29, Ls.16-18), and he ultimately made the required recommendation for retained jurisdiction and a rider (Tr., p.32, Ls.15-16). But the prosecutor also made additional statements. Referring to PSI writer's recommendation, the prosecutor stated:

I don't know if I have too much extra stuff in my  $eggnog^1$  or the presentence investigator writer does, but what the conclusion of [the PSI] is – I think I was expecting to have an IDOC recommendation in this case.

(Tr., p.30, Ls.6-10.)

The prosecutor went on to read from the presentence writer's comments including:

Mr. Merrill has an extensive criminal history. The instant offense is his third felony. He has completed a rider and had a chance to participate in a specialty court. He has had previous chances at probation and treatment and that, along with the nature of the instant offense, could merit a recommendation of incarceration with the IDOC.

However, the fact the retained jurisdiction program has changed since he was last sent on one is another option; therefore, I respectfully recommend a retained jurisdiction.

(Tr., p.20, Ls.14-24.)

The prosecutor told the court he knew of "only two things" in favor of the

recommendation for retained jurisdiction:

Two things are this: He "only" – and I say that with quotations. He "only" did the CAPP Rider, and he's young. That's it.

I know we dealt with his mother in another court. She got another chance at retained jurisdiction. ... I think she got a third rider.

And he's on the same path. Mr. Merrill to me is on the same path of he comes to court and says "This is what I'm doing." He does really great for a period of time and then he's back in the system.

(Tr., p.31, Ls.1-20.) (Emphasis added.)

The prosecutor went on to make additional remarks about Mr. Merrill's mother and

siblings and their frequent appearances on his criminal court calendar, stating:

I think a weak point is his mother and his siblings. Maybe he just has the one brother. I don't know if there's more.

But since I've been here, it's been that that group of people. I've have a Merrill on my calendar for four years at least once a month.

(Tr., p.32, Ls.5-7.) Next, the prosecutor stated:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> An apparent reference to the popular holiday drink that includes Bourbon; the sentencing hearing took place on December 19th.

So that's how irritated I am by this, and that's why I think a straight prison recommendation is just fantastic.

But giving him the benefit of the doubt, I'll turn my anger into a recommendation of an underlying sentence of five years fixed [the maximum sentence]. I think he's earned it at this point.

And now the ball is on his court, and I'll recommend that the Court order a retained jurisdiction and give him that one chance at the new program....

(Tr., p.32, Ls.2-12) (Emphasis added.)

Mr. Merrill did not object to the prosecutor's comments. (*See generally* Tr., p.32, L.11 – p.44, L.6.) The district court sentenced Mr. Merrill, in the 2016 eluding case, to a term of five years, with two fixed, and revoked his probation in the 2013 and 2015 cases (Tr., p.39, Ls.5-24); the court specifically declined to retain jurisdiction (Tr., p.41, Ls.10-12.). Mr. Merrill timely filed notices of appeal from the orders revoking his probation in his previous cases (R., pp.332, 505), and from the judgment imposing sentence in eluding case (R., p.597).<sup>2</sup> Supreme Court consolidated the appeals. (*See* Order To Consolidate Appeals, dated February 21, 2017).

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  Mr. Merrill also filed a Rule 35 motion seeking a reduction of his sentence, and the district court summarily denied it. (R., pp.503, 595, 613.) Mr. Merrill's appeal does not challenge the denial of that motion.

# **ISSUE**

Did the State breach the plea agreement by making statements that were fundamentally at odds with the sentencing dispositions that it was obligated to recommend?

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

# <u>The State Breached The Plea Agreement By Making Statements That Were Fundamentally At</u> Odds With The Disposition That The State Was Obligated To Recommend

#### A. <u>Introduction</u>

When the State enters a plea agreement with a defendant promising to recommend a particular disposition at sentencing, the prosecutor is not permitted to make statements fundamentally at odds with that recommendation. But that is exactly what happened here.

As part of the plea bargain, the State specifically promised to concur with the recommendation of the presentence investigation ("PSI"), which was for retained jurisdiction. (Tr., p.7, Ls.6-11; PSI, p.177). Although the prosecutor uttered the requisite words, he also made a number of statements that were wholly incompatible with that recommendation: he criticized the recommendation and mocked the presentence investigator for making it; he listed reasons that merited a counter recommendation for incarceration; he drew comparisons to another family member's failures after a second chance at rider, and remarked that "Mr. Merrill is on the same path"; he pronounced his unqualified opposition to probation - which is the ultimate goal of retained jurisdiction; and finally, but most blatantly, he told the court, "that's why I think a straight prison recommendation is just fantastic." (Tr., p.30, Ls.6-10, p.32, Ls.8-10.)

These statements were completely at odds with the recommendation for retained jurisdiction, depriving Mr. Merrill of the benefit of his plea bargain, and constituted a breach of the plea agreement as a matter of law.

#### B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

Mr. Merrill's claim that the prosecutor's additional statements breached the plea agreement as a matter of law is reviewed by this Court *de novo*, in accordance with contract law standards. *State v. Gomez*, 153 Idaho 253, 256 (2012).

Although Mr. Merrill did not object to the prosecutor's statements in the district court, his claim that the State breached the plea agreement is reviewable by this Court under the *Perry* fundamental error doctrine. *State v. Gomez*, 153 Idaho 253, 255 (2012) (citing *State v. Perry*, 150 Idaho 209, 225 (2010). *Perry* sets forth the applicable standard:

(1) the defendant must demonstrate that one or more of the defendant's unwaived constitutional rights were violated; (2) the error must be clear or obvious, without the need for any additional information not contained in the appellate record, including information as to whether the failure to object was a tactical decision; and (3) the defendant must demonstrate that the error affected the defendant's substantial rights, meaning (in most instances) that it must have affected the outcome of the trial proceedings.

Perry, 150 Idaho at 226.

# C. <u>The State Breached Its Plea Agreement By Making Statements That Were Fundamentally</u> <u>At Odds With The Disposition That It Was Obligated To Recommend</u>

The law is well-settled that "when a plea rests in any significant degree on a promise or agreement of the prosecutor, so that it can be said to be part of the inducement or consideration, such promise must be fulfilled." *State v. Gomez*, 153 Idaho 253, 255 (2012) (quoting *Santobello v. New York*, U.S. 257, 262, 92 S. Ct. 495, 499 (1971)). The State breaches its agreement with a defendant when the prosecutor's argument at sentencing is "so fundamentally at odds with the position that the state was obligated to recommend that it amount[s] to a violation of the agreement." *State v. Lankford*, 127 Idaho 608, 617 (1995); *see also State v.* 

Jones, 139 Idaho 299, 302 (Ct. App. 2003); State v. Wills, 140 Idaho 773 (2004); and State v. Daubs, 140 Idaho 299 (Ct. App. 2004).

In *Lankford*, the State promised to recommend a lenient sentence in exchange for a plea to murder. 127 Idaho at 617. Although the prosecutor made that recommendation at sentencing, he also presented aggravating evidence showing the defendant to be more culpable than he had admitted, that he had been a disruptive inmate, and that he was a poor candidate for rehabilitation. *Id.* Additionally, the prosecutor argued that the defendant was highly culpable, manipulative and dangerous. *Id.* On appeal, this Court held that the State had violated the plea agreement by making a presentation at sentencing that was inconsistent with its promise to recommend leniency:

Allowing the state to make the arguments and introduce the evidence in aggravation to the extent that was done was reversible error, *because it was so fundamentally at odds* with the position the State was obligated to recommend that it amounted to a violation of the agreement.

#### *Id.* (Emphasis added.)

In *State v. Jones*, the prosecutor agreed to recommend retained jurisdiction in exchange for the defendant's guilty plea. 139 Idaho at 300. However, while the prosecutor made the requisite recommendation, she also argued to the district court that the presentence investigator advised against supervised probation, in part, out of concern for the safety of the victims and defendant's poor prospects for rehabilitation. *Id.* The prosecutor added that, while she was bound to her recommendation, she did not have all of the aggravating information at the time of the plea agreement and, thus, left it up to the court's discretion. *Id.*, at 300-01. Applying *Lankford*, the Court of Appeals vacated the sentence, holding that the additional statements made by the prosecutor were "fundamentally at odds" with recommendation that the State had promised; although the prosecutor uttered the requisite wording make the recommendation called

for in the plea agreement, her additional statements "effectively disavowed the recommendation for retained jurisdiction," and thereby deprived the defendant of the benefit of his bargain, constituting a breach of the agreement. *Id.* at 303.

Similarly, in *State v. Wills*, the prosecutor had agreed to recommend specific sentences, but later argued that those sentences were "the very minimum" the court should impose, and that the State was showing "great restraint" by only recommending those sentences. 140 Idaho at 774. The Court of Appeals held that the prosecutor's argument breached the plea agreement:

By presenting the recommended sentences as the minimum to be imposed and indicating that this minimum recommendation was made with "great restraint," the prosecutor failed to endorse the recommended terms as the ones the district court should accept. Instead, the prosecutor conveyed a reservation regarding the advisability of imposing those sentences and implied that longer terms would be more appropriate. This conduct was fundamentally at odds with what the state agreed to do under the plea agreement.

Id., at 776.

And in *Daubs*, the Court of Appeals held that the prosecutor's argument was "fundamentally at odds" with the terms of the plea agreement, where the prosecutor's overemphasis of the harsher sentence recommended in the presentence investigation report acted as a "constructive disavowal" of the State's required recommendation. 140 Idaho at 301.

Federal appellate courts applying these same contract principles to plea agreements likewise hold that the prosecutor "may not superficially abide by its promise to recommend a particular sentence while also making statements that serve no practical purpose but to advocate for a harsher one." *United State v. Whitney*, 673 F.3d 965, 971 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2012). In *Whitney* the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals explained:

Although the sentencing recommendation need not be made enthusiastically, when the government obligates itself to make a recommendation at the low of the guidelines range, it may not introduce information that serves no purpose but to influence the court to give a higher sentence. This prohibition precludes referring to information that the court already has before it, including statements relating to the seriousness of the defendant's prior record, statements indicating a preference for a harsher sentence, or the introduction of evidence that is irrelevant to any matter that the government is permitted to argue. Such statements are recognized as introduced solely for the purpose of influencing the district court to sentence the defendant more harshly.

673 F.3d at 971. *See also United States v. Heredia*, 768 F.3d 1220, 1233 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2014) (the prosecutor "breaches its bargain with the defendant if it purports to make the promised recommendation while "winking' at the district court' to impliedly request a different outcome.")

Like the prosecutors in these cases, the prosecutor in Mr. Merrill's case uttered the requisite words to recommend the disposition it was obligated to recommend. (Tr., p.32, Ls.15-17.) However, and as in those cases, the prosecutor made additional comments throughout his presentation that did not support the bargained-for recommendation; the prosecutor's arguments here argued *against* retained jurisdiction and in favor of a "straight prison." As discussed more fully below, these additional statements were fundamentally at odds with the recommendation the State was obliged to make, and violated the plea agreement.

1. <u>The Prosecutor's Statement Mocking The Recommendation Of The Presentence</u> <u>Investigation, Coupled With His Statement That He Had Expected A Prison</u> <u>Recommendation, Violated The Plea Agreement</u>

After pointing out to the court that the plea agreement "bound us to follow the recommendation of the PSI," the prosecutor mocked that recommendation – and the presentence investigator for making it – by stating "I don't know if I have too much extra stuff in my eggnog or the presentence investigator writer does," and then, "I was expecting to have an IDOC [i.e., prison] recommendation in this case." (Tr., p.29, L.17 – p.30, L.10.) By making these statements, the prosecutor effectively told the court the recommendation made no sense to him and that he thought it silly, and that the recommendation he had expected - IDOC incarceration -

was the more sober disposition for this case. These remarks served no practical purpose other than to undermine value of the recommendation Mr. Merrill had bargained for, and violated the plea agreement.

### 2. <u>The Prosecutor's Statements Minimized The Reasons For Retaining Jurisdiction</u>, And Emphasized The Reasons Against It, Violated The Plea Agreement

The prosecutor also told the district court he had personal, conflicting feelings about the recommendation and decided to read aloud, from the presentence investigation, a list of reasons supporting a prison sentence for Mr. Merrill: his extensive criminal history, that the instant offense is his third felony; that he had completed a rider and had a chance to participate in specialty court; that he'd been given previous chances at probation and treatment; the serious nature of the instant offense; and a conclusion that these reasons "could merit a recommendation of incarceration with the IDOC." (Tr., p.30, Ls.11-20.)

This information was already before the district court in the PSI, and underscoring those reasons could serve no practical purpose other than to influence the district court to consider them in support of a straight prison sentence, and as such violated the plea agreement. *See Whitney*, 673 F.3d at 971; *Jones*, 139 Idaho at 300.

Although the prosecutor also read the reason given by the presentence investigator for recommending retained jurisdiction, i.e., there is a new retained jurisdiction program, (Tr., p.30, Ls.14-24), the prosecutor went to great lengths to minimize the recommendation, stating there were "only two things" that favored retained jurisdiction: "[Mr. Merrill] 'only' – and I say that with quotations, "only" did the CAPP Rider, and he's young. *That's it.*" (Tr., p.31, Ls.10-12.) (Emphasis added.) The prosecutor also made extensive, detailed comments regarding Mr. Merrill's record of failure, i.e., "he does really great for a period of time, and then he's back

in the system." (Tr., p.31, Ls.3-20), clearly expressing his lack of confidence in Mr. Merrill's ability to succeed. (*See generally*, Tr., p.31, L.3 – p.32, L.10.)

And, while the prosecutor did ultimately consent to recommend retained jurisdiction, "giving him the benefit of the doubt," and "give him that one chance" at a rider (Tr., p.32, Ls.17), his additional comments showed that the prosecutor had strong reservations about the recommendation, and were akin to the statement of "great restraint" that was held to violate the State's plea promise in *State v. Wills. See* 140 Idaho at 776. Moreover, there is no exception to the reasoning or holdings of *Lankford, Jones, Wills*, or *Daubs* that permits a prosecutor to present a counter-argument to the recommendation the State is required to make under the plea agreement. Thus, although the prosecutor provided reasons that supported the recommendation, he was not, consistent with the plea agreement, permitted to highlight reasons that were contrary to that recommendation.

# 3. <u>By Underscoring The Fact The Mr. Merrill's Mother Was Given A Second</u> <u>Chance On Retained Jurisdiction And Failed, And Then Telling The Court That</u> <u>Mr. Merrill "Was On The Same Path," The Prosecutor Breached The Plea</u> <u>Agreement</u>

The prosecutor additionally violated the plea agreement by pointing out that Mr. Merrill's mother had been given a second chance on retained jurisdiction and failed, and that he believed Mr. Merrill was "on the same path"; the prosecutor emphasized his expectation of failure, explaining that Mr. Merrill "does really great for a period of time, *and then he's back in the system*." (Tr., p.31, Ls.3-20.) (Emphasis added.) The prosecutor effectively argued the futility of granting Mr. Merrill a second chance at retained jurisdiction, predicting that like his mother, Mr. Merrill would fail. This argument is incompatible with the State's promise to recommend retained jurisdiction, and violated the plea agreement.

### 4. <u>The Prosecutor's Unqualified Statements Against The Possibility Of Probation</u> <u>Are Incompatible With A Recommendation For Retained Jurisdiction</u>

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