Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-19-2017

State v. Merrill Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44822

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

ARGUMENT

Merrill Has Failed To Show That The Prosecutor Breached The Plea Agreement, Much Less That The Alleged Breach Constitutes Fundamental Error

A. Introduction

Pursuant to a plea agreement, the prosecutor agreed to limit his sentencing recommendations to those of the PSI. (See Tr., p.7, Ls.7-12; p.29, Ls.17-18.) The prosecutor fulfilled his obligations under the plea agreement by following the recommendation of the PSI, and made a strong case for that recommendation. (See Tr., p.30, L.11 – p.32, L.25.) Notwithstanding this recommendation, the district court sentenced Merrill to a unified term of five years with two years fixed and did not retain jurisdiction. (Tr., p.39, L.4 – p.41, L.12; R., pp.591-93.) Now Merrill blames the prosecutor for the district court's sentencing decision and, for the first time on appeal, asserts that the prosecutor breached his obligations under the plea agreement. (Appellant's brief, pp.6-19.) Review of the record and application of the correct legal standards, however, shows no breach, much less fundamental error entitling Merrill to review of this unpreserved issue.

B. Standard Of Review

When raised for the first time on appeal, a claim that the state breached a plea agreement will only be reviewed for fundamental error. State v. Gomez, 153 Idaho 253, 281 P.3d 90 (2012). "Whether a plea agreement has been breached is a question of law to be reviewed by this Court *de novo*, in accordance with contract law standards." State v. Schultz, 150 Idaho 97, 244 P.3d 241 (Ct. App. 2010) (citing State v. Jafek, 141 Idaho 71, 73, 106 P.3d 397, 399 (2005); Puckett v. United States, 556 U.S. 129, 137 (2009)).

C. The Prosecutor Did Not Breach The Plea Agreement

The issue Merrill seeks to present on appeal, an alleged violation of his plea agreement, was never presented to nor decided by the district court. The issue is therefore unpreserved and can only be addressed under the fundamental error standard articulated by the Court in <u>State v. Perry</u>, 150 Idaho 209, 245 P.3d 961 (2010). To show fundamental error,

the defendant bears the burden of persuading the appellate court that the alleged error: (1) violates one or more of the defendant's unwaived constitutional rights; (2) plainly exists (without the need for any additional information not contained in the appellate record, including information as to whether the failure to object was a tactical decision); and (3) was not harmless.

<u>Id.</u> at 228, 245 P.3d at 980. Application of this legal standard to the facts of this case demonstrates that Merrill has failed to show error, much less fundamental error entitling him to review of this unpreserved issue.

1. <u>The Prosecutor Followed The Sentencing Recommendation Contained In The</u> PSI, And So Did Not Violate Merrill's Constitutional Rights

When the state breaches its obligation under a plea agreement to recommend a specific sentence, it violates the defendant's due process rights. Puckett, 556 U.S. at 136 (citing Santobello v. New York, 404 U.S. 257 (1971)); see also Gomez, 153 Idaho at 256, 281 P.3d at 93. As noted above, under the plea agreement, the state was required to follow the sentencing recommendation of the PSI. And that is what the prosecutor did: After expressing some surprise at the PSI's recommendation for a period of retained jurisdiction (Tr., p.30, Ls.2-10), the prosecutor stated:

Quite frankly, though, the last paragraph on page 19 is almost spot on with how I feel, and so I'm going to read it on the record.

"Mr. Merrill has an extensive criminal history. The instant offense is his third felony. He has completed a rider and had a chance to participate in a

specialty court. He has had previous chances at probation and treatment and that, along with the nature of the instant offense, could merit a recommendation of incarceration with IDOC.

"However, the fact that the retained jurisdiction program has changed since he was last sent on one is another option; therefore, I respectfully recommend a retained jurisdiction."

(Tr., p.30, Ls.11-24.) After reading the PSI sentencing recommendation into the record, the prosecutor went on to explain (responding to defense counsel's arguments) the reasons why probation was "out of the question" in Merrill's case, including his prior failures on probation and his lack of support from family in the community. (Tr., p.31, L.3 – p.32, L.10.) The prosecutor then concluded by recommending an underlying sentence of five years fixed, and then made a compelling case for the period of retained jurisdiction:

I'll recommend that the Court order a retained jurisdiction and give him that one chance at the new program. That might—and the benefit of—that I'm getting to with the two benefits, the CAPP Rider doesn't address his criminal thinking, which I think is there.

It may address it in some form or another, but I think, from what I know about the new retained jurisdiction, that might hit it out of the park for him and get him on the right track. At least let him take a swing at that is my recommendation.

(Tr., p.32, Ls.15-25.) The prosecutor did not violate the plea agreement; he fulfilled his obligations to follow the PSI, and made a strong case for that recommendation. Merrill's constitutional rights, therefore, were not violated and he cannot show fundamental error entitling him to review of this unpreserved issue.

2. <u>None Of The Statements Of Which Merrill Complains On Appeal Clearly Violated The Plea Agreement</u>

Merrill takes several isolated statements from the prosecutor out of the context of the prosecutor's argument as a whole, and then claims that they violated his plea agreement. (Appellant's brief, pp.10-15.) None of the statements shows a clear violation of the agreement.

Merrill first claims that the prosecutor's expression of surprise at the PSI's recommendation for a period of retained jurisdiction violated the plea agreement. (Appellant's brief, pp.10-11.) It does not. Review of the record shows that everyone was surprised by the recommendation for a period of retained jurisdiction. (See, e.g., Tr., p.28, L.24 – p.29, L.4 (district court asking defense counsel "why [it should] even entertain a request for a retained jurisdiction rather than simply imposing the sentence"); Tr., p.29, Ls.9-13 (defense counsel acknowledging that he, "likewise, expected a recommendation of imposing the sentence").) Nothing in the plea agreement required the prosecutor to ignore the obvious—it was surprising, given Merrill's history and current crimes, that he would receive a recommendation for a period of retained jurisdiction—and ignoring the obvious would not have strengthened the recommendation. Instead, as highlighted above, the prosecutor used that common surprise among all of the parties to make a strong case for the recommendation of retained jurisdiction. Merrill has failed to show that, in context, the prosecutor's comments acknowledging surprise at the recommendation breached the plea agreement, much less constitute fundamental error entitling him to review of this unpreserved claim of error.

As noted above, the plea agreement required the prosecutor to limit his sentencing recommendation to that of the PSI, which, as shown above, he did. While the PSI writer recommended retained jurisdiction, Merrill's counsel, in part, argued for probation. (Tr., p.27, L.8 – p.28, L.23.) The prosecutor strenuously opposed the recommendation for probation.

Merrill raises several claims, each asserting that the comments the prosecutor made in this context violated his obligations under the plea agreement. (Appellant's brief, pp.11-14.) But the prosecutor was not bound to recommend *probation* under the plea agreement, and was free to vigorously argue all of the reasons that Merrill, at least at present, was not amenable to probation. See State v. Halbesleben, 147 Idaho 161, 168, 206 P.3d 867, 874 (Ct. App. 2009) (buttressing recommendation against argument from defense counsel that a defendant merits a less severe sentence did not impliedly disavow sentencing recommendation). The prosecutor did not breach the plea agreement when he argued against probation.

Merrill specifically claims that the prosecutor violated the plea agreement when he stated, "Probation, for me, is out of the question" and "there's nothing in the last four years that I've seen here that tells me he's going to be okay on probation." (Appellant's brief, p.13.) These comments, referencing Merrill's prior failures on probation, are not improper and certainly do not violate the prosecutor's obligation to recommend a period of retained jurisdiction. Moreover, they should be read in the context of the prosecutor's recognition that Merrill's prior CAPP rider lacked the programs necessary to address his criminal thinking, and that the "new retained jurisdiction" could address those issues and might allow Merrill to "hit it out of the park" and "get him on the right track." (Tr., p.32, Ls.19-25.) Again, the prosecutor fulfilled his obligation under the plea agreement to recommend, consistent with the PSI, a period of retained jurisdiction. Merrill has failed to show any breach of the plea agreement, much less fundamental error entitling him to review of this unpreserved claim of error.

In his argument against probation, the prosecutor also referenced Merrill's mother and brother, and their respective challenges with the law. (Tr., p.31, L.13 – p.32, L.7.) In their context, these comments also appear proper. Courts normally rely upon close family to serve as

a defendant's support network while on probation and, as the prosecutor explained, in this particular case the mother and brother could not be relied upon to provide that support. (Tr., p.31, L.21 – p.32, L.7.) Moreover, in that context, the prosecutor's statement that Merrill was on the same path as his mother, doing "really great for a period of time, and then he's back in the system" (Tr., p.31, Ls.13-20), further reflects the challenges created by Merrill's specific home environment in Bingham County.

Merrill, giving the prosecutor's statements their worst possible reading, claims that by explaining these family challenges, the "prosecutor effectively argued the futility of granting Mr. Merrill a second chance at retained jurisdiction, predicting that like his mother, Mr. Merrill would fail." (Appellant's brief, p.12.) This meaning adduced by Merrill from the prosecutor's comment requires interpretation—the key is in the word "effectively"—and is certainly not clear on the record. See State v. Stocks, 153 Idaho 171, 174, 280 P.3d 198, 201 (Ct. App. 2012) ("the requirement that a violation be 'clear' all but definitively defeats a claim of an implied violation"). That defense counsel's failure to object to such comments was not a tactical decision is also unclear, and reinforces the state's less-inflammatory interpretation: Though with some reservation, even Merrill acknowledged that his local support network was not good, but noted that he had an older brother in Caldwell who was "not in the system" and that his parents were moving toward divorce. (See Tr., p.33, L.13 – p.35, L.10.)

Finally, it is clear that, whatever may have been intended by the prosecutor's comments, the district court gave them a proper interpretation:

Just so that we're clear, whatever Mr. Rogers said about your mother, I don't know what's going on there, because those aren't my cases. And I don't punish you because your mom is involved in any other things. The only point that I take from that is he's saying that, whatever support system you have here, she's not it. I can't disagree with that aspect of it.

(Tr., p.40, Ls.4-10.) Thus, even had the prosecutor's comments been clearly improper, Merrill was not prejudiced. Merrill has failed to show that these comments constitute fundamental error entitling him to review of this unpreserved claim of error.

Merrill last argues that the prosecutor's statement, "So that's just how irritated I am by this, and that's why I think a straight prison recommendation is just fantastic" (Tr., p.32, Ls.8-10), breached the plea agreement. (Appellant's brief, p.14.) Merrill characterizes this statement as "[t]he most blatant of all of the violations" and asserts that the prosecutor's "expression of a personal preference for prison cannot possibly be reconciled with a recommendation for retained iurisdiction." (Id.) In fact, a recommendation for a period of retained jurisdiction is a recommendation for incarceration, and not probation, so the prosecutor's expressed preference would at least seem reconcilable with the recommendation. It is also worth noting that the prosecutor's statement was not conditional—he did not argue that a "prison recommendation would have been just fantastic" but that the "prison recommendation is just fantastic." Where the statement is unconditional, Merrill cannot show that his reading of the statement is the only possibly correct reading. Merrill has therefore failed to show that this statement, even in isolation, clearly violated the plea agreement. And in the context of the prosecutor's argument as a whole, it is clear (as shown above) that the prosecutor fulfilled his obligation under the plea agreement to recommend retained jurisdiction. Having failed to show fundamental error, Merrill is not entitled to review of this unpreserved claim of error.

3. <u>The District Court Focused On Merrill's Ongoing Criminality, Not The Prosecutor's Statements At Sentencing, When It Rejected The Prosecutor's Recommendation For Retained Jurisdiction</u>

Finally, Merrill's claim also fails on the third prong of fundamental error because, contrary to his assertions, there is no basis for concluding the prosecutor's comments affected the

sentence. Under the prejudice prong of the fundamental error test, "the defendant must further persuade the reviewing court that the error was not harmless; i.e., that there is a reasonable possibility that the error affected the outcome of the trial." State v. Jackson, 151 Idaho 376, 378, 256 P.3d 784, 786 (Ct. App. 2011). When the error relates to sentencing, "the 'outcome' he must show to have been affected is his sentence." Puckett, 556 U.S. at 142 n. 4. "The defendant whose plea agreement has been broken by the Government will not always be able to show prejudice, either because he obtained the benefits contemplated by the deal anyway (e.g., the sentence that the prosecutor promised to request) or because he likely would not have obtained those benefits in any event" Id. at 141-42.

Review of the record shows that, even had the prosecutor breached the plea agreement (which he did not), such breach would be harmless because Merrill likely would not have received a period of retained jurisdiction in any event. First, before the prosecutor ever made his recommendation, it appears the district court already intended to reject the PSI recommendation for a period of retained jurisdiction. It stated:

[G]iven [Merrill's] history and where we've gone and where we've been, why should I even entertain a request for a retained jurisdiction rather than simply imposing the sentence, specifically given the nature of the charge that he's pled guilty to in this newer case.

(Tr., p.28, L.24 – p.29, L.4.) Second, after the prosecutor made his argument at sentencing, the district court explained that its decision to not retain jurisdiction was based on Merrill's need for Level 3.5 residential treatment, his lack of awareness of his needs for treatment for rehabilitation to succeed, and his ongoing criminality. (Tr., p.40, L.2 – p.41, L.12.) The court's decision was not based on the prosecutor's statements. Finally, in its orders denying Merrill's subsequent Rule 35 motions, the district court further explained its sentencing rationale. (See R., pp.350-51, 522-23, 615-16.) Again, it was Merrill's criminal history and several prior failures on probation

that led the district court to execute his sentences without retaining jurisdiction, not any

argument from the prosecutor.

Merrill has failed to show that the prosecutor failed to fulfill his obligation under the plea

agreement to follow the sentencing recommendation, when he in fact read that recommendation

into the record and then made a compelling argument in favor of that recommendation. He has

failed to show that any of the prosecutor's isolated comments which he has highlighted clearly

breached the plea agreement, especially when those comments are considered in context.

Finally, he has failed to show that, regardless of the prosecutor's arguments, he was likely to

receive a period of retained jurisdiction in any event, especially given his criminal history and

the nature of his most recent crimes. Merrill has failed to show that the prosecutor breached his

plea agreement, much less committed fundamental error entitling him to review of this

unpreserved issue. Merrill's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests that this Court affirm Merrill's conviction and sentence.